IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC01-1950

Upon Request From the Attorney General For An Advisory Opinion As To the Validity Of An Initiative Petition

ADVISORY OPINION TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

RE: RIGHT TO TREATMENT AND REHABILITATION FOR NONVIOLENT DRUG OFFENSES

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE SPONSOR, FLORIDA CAMPAIGN FOR NEW DRUG POLICIES

HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP

Stephen H. Grimes Susan L. Kelsey P.O. Drawer 810 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (850) 224-7000

Counsel for the Sponsor

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Florida Campaign for New Drug Policies is a Florida political committee. <u>See</u> http://www.drugreform.org/florida. The committee has invoked the initiative petition process of Article XI, section 3, Florida Constitution, to propose an amendment to the Florida Constitution. [A 1.] This drug treatment amendment would give certain nonviolent drug offenders a right to receive treatment and rehabilitation in lieu of sentencing or incarceration. The Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(10), Fla. Const.¹

The Secretary of State submitted the drug treatment amendment to the Attorney General pursuant to section 15.21, Florida Statutes (2000),² certifying that it had satisfied the signature requirements and qualified for this Court's advisory opinion. [A 2.] The Attorney General, pursuant to section 16.061, Florida Statutes (2000),³ has

¹ "The supreme court ... [s]hall, when requested by the attorney general pursuant to the provisions of Section 10 of Article IV, render an advisory opinion of the justices, addressing issues as provided by general law."

² Section 15.21 requires the Secretary of State immediately to submit an initiative petition to the Attorney General if the sponsor has satisfied stated requirements, including obtaining the requisite number and geographic distribution of electors' signatures in support of the petition.

³ Section 16.061, Florida Statutes (2000), requires the Attorney General to petition this Court within 30 days after receiving an initiative from the Secretary of State, "requesting an advisory opinion regarding the compliance of the text of the proposed amendment or revision with s. 3, Art. XI of the State Constitution and the compliance of the proposed ballot title and substance with s. 101.161." This section implements Florida Constitution article IV, section 10, which requires the Attorney General to "request the opinion of the justices of the supreme court as to the validity of any initiative petition circulated pursuant to Section 3 of Article XI."

requested this Court's opinion as to whether the ballot title and summary of the proposed constitutional amendment comply with section 101.161, Florida Statutes (2000),⁴ and whether the amendment complies with the single-subject requirement of article XI, section 3, Florida Constitution.⁵

Title, Summary, And Text Of The Amendment

The ballot title for the proposed amendment is "Right to Treatment and Rehabilitation for Nonviolent Drug Offenses."

The summary for the proposed amendment states as follows:

Individuals charged or convicted of possessing or purchasing controlled substances or drug paraphernalia may elect appropriate treatment as defined, instead of sentencing or incarceration, for first two offenses; discretionary with court thereafter. Excludes individuals committing serious crimes in same episode or convicted or in prison for violent crimes in past five years. Individual unamenable to treatment may be prosecuted or sentenced. Upon successful completion or eighteen months in treatment, no prosecution or sentencing. Legislative implementation.

⁴ Section 101.161(1), Florida Statutes (2000), provides, in pertinent part, that "The substance of the amendment or other public measure shall be an explanatory statement, not exceeding 75 words in length, of the chief purpose of the measure. The ballot title shall consist of a caption, not exceeding 15 words in length, by which the measure is commonly referred to or spoken of."

⁵ Article XI, section 3, requires that, with one exception not implicated here, any revision or amendment of the Florida Constitution proposed by the people "shall embrace but one subject and matter directly connected therewith."

The full text of the proposed amendment is as follows:

BE IT ENACTED BY THE PEOPLE OF FLORIDA THAT:

Article I, Section 26, Florida Constitution, is hereby created to read as follows:

Right to Treatment and Rehabilitation

- (a) Any individual charged with or convicted of illegally possessing or purchasing a controlled substance or drug paraphernalia may elect to receive appropriate treatment as described in subsection (c), instead of being sentenced or incarcerated, which shall be a matter of right for the first and second offense after enactment of this section and at the discretion of the court for subsequent offenses. If more than one qualifying offense under this section occurs during a single criminal episode, it shall be considered a single offense. For purposes of this section, an individual who elects to receive appropriate treatment prior to conviction shall be deemed to have waived the right to a speedy trial.
- (b) This section shall not apply to any individual who in connection with the same criminal episode as the drug offense described in (a) is also charged with or convicted of: any felony; any misdemeanor involving theft, violence or the threat of violence; trafficking, sale, manufacture, or delivery of a controlled substance; purchase or possession with intent to sell, manufacture, or deliver a controlled substance or drug paraphernalia; or operating a vehicle under the influence of alcohol or a controlled substance. This section also shall not apply to any individual who, within five years before committing the drug offense described in (a), has been convicted of, or in prison for, one of the serious or violent crimes described in Section 775.084(1)(c)1.a.-r., Florida Statutes (2000), or such other violent crimes as may be provided by law.
- (c) For purposes of this section, "appropriate treatment" means a state-approved drug treatment and/or rehabilitation treatment program, or set of programs, designed to reduce or eliminate substance abuse or drug dependency and to increase employability. Such program or programs shall include, as deemed appropriate, access to vocational training,

literacy training, family counseling, mental health services, or similar support services. The determination of the type and duration of the appropriate treatment program or programs that an individual shall receive, and methods of monitoring the individual's progress while in treatment, shall be made by a qualified professional as defined in Section 397.311(25), Florida Statutes (2000).

- (d) An individual receiving appropriate treatment under this section may be transferred to a different program due to violations of program rules or unsuitability to the form of treatment initially prescribed. An individual may be removed from appropriate treatment if, after multiple programs and violations, and upon an independent evaluation by a qualified professional as defined in Section 397.311(25), Florida Statutes (2000), the individual is found by the court to be unamenable to treatment and rehabilitation. Any such individual removed from appropriate treatment who has been convicted of the drug offense described in (a) may be sentenced for the offense. Prosecution may be recommenced against any individual removed from appropriate treatment who has not yet been convicted, and a conviction resulting from such prosecution may result in a criminal sentence without regard to this section.
- (e) Appropriate treatment shall be terminated upon an individual's successful completion of the prescribed course of appropriate treatment, or upon an independent evaluation and finding by a qualified professional as defined in Section 397.311(25), Florida Statutes (2000), that an individual's appropriate treatment has been successful, or eighteen months after the date the individual elected to receive appropriate treatment, whichever occurs first. Upon termination of appropriate treatment, the individual may not be prosecuted, sentenced, or placed under continued court supervision for the offense which led to the appropriate treatment.
- (f) This section shall become effective on July 1 of the year following passage by the voters, and shall apply prospectively only to qualifying drug offenses occurring on or after that date.
- (g) The Legislature shall enact such laws as necessary to implement this

section.

Legal Context Of The Amendment

Florida was a leader among the states in recognizing substance abuse as a health problem and a disease requiring treatment. Building on earlier programs for providing treatment to substance-abuse offenders, Florida adopted the Hal S. Marchman Alcohol and Other Drug Services Act in 1993 (the "Marchman Act"), which expressly codifies concepts that are central to the drug treatment amendment:

Substance abuse is a major health problem Substance abuse impairment is a disease It is the intent of the Legislature to provide, for substance abuse impaired adults and juvenile offenders, an alternative to criminal imprisonment by encouraging the referral of such offenders to service providers not generally available within the correctional system instead of or in addition to criminal penalties.

§ 397.305(1), (7), Fla. Stat. (2001).

Florida has in many contexts and for many years recognized the benefits and efficacy of drug treatment programs. Thus, Part VII of the Marchman Act, entitled "Offender Referrals," authorizes Florida courts and criminal justice authorities to refer substance abuse impaired offenders, including juvenile offenders, to qualified service providers for treatment. §§ 397.705(1), 397.706, Fla. Stat. (2000). See also, e.g., id. § 893.15 (authorizing trial judges to require drug-possession offenders to participate in a substance abuse program); id. § 945.12 (since 1957 has authorized the Department of Corrections to transfer substance abuse impaired persons to appropriate

treatment facilities or programs); <u>id.</u> § 948.034 (authorizing withholding of adjudication and imposition of probation for certain drug offenses, conditioned on residence at community residential drug punishment center and completion of other requirements, which may include successful completion of a substance abuse education program).

Pursuant to the Marchman Act, and consistent with recommendations of this Court's Treatment-Based Drug Court Steering Committee, the Florida Legislature has established a treatment-based drug court program. See § 397.334, Fla. Stat. (2001). The drug court program is intended to effect a multidisciplinary approach incorporating the expertise of the judiciary and qualified health professionals:

It is the intent of the Legislature to implement treatment-based drug court programs in each judicial circuit in an effort to reduce crime and recidivism, abuse and neglect cases, and family dysfunction by breaking the cycle of addiction which is the most predominant cause of cases entering the justice system. The Legislature recognizes that the integration of judicial supervision, treatment, accountability, and sanctions greatly increases the effectiveness of substance abuse treatment. The Legislature also seeks to ensure that there is a coordinated, integrated and multidisciplinary response to the substance abuse problem in this state, with special attention given to creating partnerships between the public and private sectors and to the coordinated, supported, and integrated delivery of multiple-system services for substance abusers, including a multiagency team approach to service delivery.

<u>Id.</u> § 397.334(1).

Despite Florida's consistent recognition of the benefits of drug treatment

programs, however, fewer than half of the eligible offenders are afforded treatment.

[See A 1 at 3 (citing Crime in Florida: 2000 Uniform Crime Report, FDLE).] This under-utilization of treatment for qualified offenders is a major impetus for the present drug treatment amendment.

Two other states, Arizona and California, have adopted ballot initiatives similar in substance to the Florida drug treatment amendment. In 1996, sixty-five percent (65%) of Arizona voters approved Proposition 200, entitled the "Drug Medicalization, Prevention and Control Act of 1996." Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 13-901.1 (2000). The Supreme Court of Arizona released a report summarizing the implementation of the act [A 4], and a "report card" revealing that the Arizona program produced a success rate of over sixty percent (60%) and saved the state over \$2.5 million in Fiscal Year 1998. [A 4 at 9.]

More recently, sixty-one percent (61%) of California voters approved Proposition 36 in November of 2000. [A 5.] Prop 36, also known as the Substance Abuse and Crime Prevention Act, is similar to the Florida drug treatment amendment. Cal. Penal Code § 1210 (West 2000). California's provision of treatment and rehabilitation has reduced recidivism as much as 72 percent (72%). [A 5 at 7.] Economic impact reports on the Act, produced by the California State Legislative Analyst's Office, estimated that the Act would save the state between \$100 and \$150

million <u>annually</u> in the first few years of implementation, and would allow the state to avoid a one-time capital outlay of about \$500 million by eliminating the need for building an additional prison. [A 5 at 5.]

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Because the people's sovereign right to amend their constitution is at stake, this Court has the responsibility to sustain the drug treatment amendment if possible, considering the proposal as a whole and giving effect to the intent of the drafters and the chief purpose of the measure. The standard of review is highly deferential, and the Court's duty is to uphold the proposal unless it can be shown to be clearly and conclusively defective.

The title and ballot summary fully inform voters of the chief purpose of the amendment. The purpose of requiring a title is simply so that there will be a caption "by which the measure is commonly referred to or spoken of." § 101.161, Fla. Stat. (2000). The title of this initiative satisfies the requirements. The ballot summary, which must be read together with the title, likewise satisfies the governing requirements by clearly stating that its purpose is to give nonviolent drug offenders a right to receive treatment and rehabilitation instead of sentencing or incarceration. Thus, there is no possibility that voters could be misled concerning the purpose of the amendment.

The Attorney General's challenges to the particular wording of the summary are misplaced, resulting for the most part from inaccurate and forced misinterpretations of the summary. None of the Attorney General's challenges has merit, and none rises to the level of establishing such a clear and conclusive defect as to justify the Court's preventing the people of Florida from voting on this proposal. The Court should approve the title and ballot summary.

The drug treatment amendment likewise complies with the single-subject requirement because it has a logical and natural oneness of purpose and it may be logically viewed as having a natural relation and connection as component parts or aspects of a single dominant plan or scheme. The only purpose of this proposed amendment is to give nonviolent drug offenders the right to receive treatment and rehabilitation instead of incarceration or sentencing. The entire amendment is directed to that objective, and it includes directly connected matters such as definitions and significant details of its scope and operation. The amendment clearly embraces "but one subject and matter directly connected therewith" and thus satisfies the single-subject requirement of Article XI, section 3.

The Attorney General's arguments that the drug treatment amendment improperly affects all three branches of Florida government cannot withstand scrutiny.

Any initiative may, and almost all do, "affect" one or more branches of Florida

government, and the Court has stated repeatedly that such an effect is no reason to invalidate a proposed amendment. The amendment does not substantially perform or usurp any executive branch function, as prosecutors are free to charge crimes as they see fit under the amendment just as they are free to do so under current law. The amendment does not substantially perform or usurp any legislative function merely because it alters some aspects of current statutory law - as most constitutional amendments do – or because it might require legislative funding. The amendment does not substantially perform or usurp any judicial function merely because trial court judges will be required to comply with the amendment, which is always true whenever the constitution is amended. Trial court judges will retain control over the processing of each case, determining each offender's eligibility for treatment; receiving, approving, and monitoring treatment plans; and adjudicating compliance with treatment for purposes of final disposition – all of which the trial courts do under current law. The single change that the amendment effects in current law, allowing the offender to elect treatment twice after the trial judge determines eligibility for making that election, is central and directly related to the single subject of the amendment, and is not sufficient to constitute a usurpation of the judicial branch function. Thus, the amendment does not violate the single-subject rule and should be approved for placement on the ballot.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW IS HIGHLY DEFERENTIAL AND THE COURT'S REVIEW IS LIMITED.
 - A. THE PETITION IS ENTITLED TO GREAT DEFERENCE.

Because of the great importance of protecting the people's constitutional right to modify the law of Florida, this Court has always recognized that it should be extremely reluctant to remove a proposed constitutional amendment from the ballot. As noted in Askew v. Firestone, 421 So. 2d 151, 156 (Fla. 1982), the court "must act with extreme care, caution, and restraint before it removes a constitutional amendment from the vote of the people." The Court's "duty is to uphold an initiative petition unless it can be shown to be 'clearly and conclusively defective.'" Floridians Against Casino Takeover v. Let's Help Florida, 363 So. 2d 337, 339 (Fla. 1978). The governing standard of review is very deferential.

B. SUBJECTIVE VIEWS OF THE MERITS AND POLITICAL RAMIFICATIONS OF A PROPOSED INITIATIVE ARE IRRELEVANT IN THESE PROCEEDINGS.

In <u>Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re Tax Limitation</u>, 644 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1994), the Court explained in more detail the limitations on its authority in reviewing initiative petitions:

This Court's role in these matters is strictly limited to the legal issues

presented by the constitution and relevant statutes. This Court does not have the authority or responsibility to rule on the merits or the wisdom of these proposed initiative amendments, and we have not done so. Infringing on the people's right to vote on an amendment is a power this Court should use only where the record shows the constitutional single-subject requirement has been violated or the record establishes that the ballot language would clearly mislead the public concerning material elements of the proposed amendment and its effect on the present constitution.

644 So. 2d at 489. See also Pope v. Gray, 104 So. 2d 841, 842 (Fla. 1958) ("There is no lawful reason why the electors of this State should not have the right to determine the manner in which the Constitution should be amended. This is the most sanctified area in which a court can exercise power."); Weber v. Smathers, 338 So. 2d 819, 821-22 (Fla. 1976) ("we are dealing with a constitutional democracy in which sovereignty resides in the people. It is their Constitution that we are construing. They have a right to change, abrogate or modify it in any manner they see fit so long as they keep within the confines of the Federal Constitution. ... Neither the wisdom of the provision [initiative petition] nor the quality of its draftsmanship is a matter for our review."). The Court cannot pass judgment on either the wisdom or the merit of a proposed amendment. Advisory Op. to Atty. Gen. re Ltd. Casinos, 644 So. 2d 71, 75 (Fla. 1994).

Any given initiative petition may raise issues that are controversial. That is the inherent nature of the process and one of its most powerful democratic features: to

present issues for consideration and allow the voters themselves to express individual opinions about them. The drug treatment amendment is well within the requirements of the law.

II. THE BALLOT TITLE AND SUMMARY ACCURATELY INFORM THE VOTER OF THE CHIEF PURPOSE OF THE AMENDMENT.

The title of the proposed amendment is ""Right to Treatment and Rehabilitation for Nonviolent Drug Offenses." The title of the drug treatment amendment meets the word limit of the statute, and is how the proposed amendment is commonly referenced. The Attorney General does not challenge the title on any basis.

The ballot summary provides as follows:

Individuals charged or convicted of possessing or purchasing controlled substances or drug paraphernalia may elect appropriate treatment as defined, instead of sentencing or incarceration, for first two offenses; discretionary with court thereafter. Excludes individuals committing serious crimes in same episode or convicted or in prison for violent crimes in past five years. Individual unamenable to treatment may be prosecuted or sentenced. Upon successful completion or eighteen months in treatment, no prosecution or sentencing. Legislative implementation.

A. THE TITLE AND SUMMARY PASS THE APPLICABLE LEGAL TESTS.

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