IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC05-1950

In re: ADVISORY OPINION
TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL –
RIGHT TO TREATMENT AND REHABILITATION
FOR NON-VIOLENT DRUG OFFENSES

AMENDED BRIEF OF INTERESTED PARTY, SAVE OUR SOCIETY FROM DRUGS, INC. IN OPPOSITION TO AMENDMENT

KENNETH W. SUKHIA Florida Bar No. 266256 FOWLER, WHITE, GILLEN, BOGGS, VILLAREAL AND BANKER, P. A. 101 North Monroe Street, Suite 1090 Tallahassee, FL 32301 Phone: 850 681-0411

Fax: 850-681-6036

Counsel for Save Our Society From Drugs

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

The Amendment violates the single subject limitation of Article XI, section 3 in a number of ways. First, it substantially alters and performs judicial functions by (1) stripping the judiciary of its constitutionally vested powers under Article V and Article I, section 21 to provide redress and administer justice, both of which are quintessential judicial functions, (2) it removes the state judiciary's articulated authority under section 397.334 to administer the statewide Treatment-Based Drug Court Program, (3) it transfers quintessential judicial decision-making authority (including the determination of the type of appropriate treatment program or programs an individual shall receive, the determination of the duration of an individual's treatment program, the methods of monitoring the individual's progress while in treatment, and the authority to determine without judicial control or oversight when an individual's appropriate treatment in lieu of sentencing has been successful) from the state judiciary to unelected, unappointed, and unaccountable "qualified professionals" with no judicial qualifications or experience whatsoever and (4) it creates a de facto court system outside the purview of Article V, section 1. Second, the amendment substantially alters and performs legislative functions by (1) implementing a public policy decision of statewide significance, essentially decriminalizing the possession and purchase of all illegal drugs and supplanting Florida's Treatment-Based Drug Court Program with an extensive and costly

statewide drug treatment, education and training program under the authority of private entities, (2) modifying the penalties for the possession or purchase of all illegal drugs (3) authorizing a term of treatment for misdemeanor offenders which exceeds the maximum imposed by the Legislature (4) placing constraints on the Legislature's authority to adopt programs and (5) requiring the Legislature to appropriate large sums to fund a treatment and rehabilitation scheme of massive scale. The amendment substantially alters and performs executive functions by substantially affecting the State Attorneys (1) by substantially affecting the State Attorney's discretion as to the prosecution of those possessing or purchasing illegal drugs (2) by removing altogether even the threat of punishment by incarceration, thereby eliminating the deterrent effect which the criminal statutes were designed to achieve and substantially affecting executive enforcement of the criminal laws, and (3) by giving offenders authority over the course of the criminal justice system, removing any incentive to resolve their cases prior to trial and giving them an incentive to put the prosecution and courts to the expense of trial without fear of being sentenced or incarcerated.

The amendment fails to identify constitutional provisions it substantially affects including (1) the equal protection clause of Article I, section 2 by granting a constitutional right to treatment to charged or convicted drug offenders while denying the same right to those who have not been so charged and convicted, (2) Article 1, section 21 and Article 5, section 1, by removing from the courts their duty to administer justice in making sentencing decisions and placing the authority to make

decisions affecting the liberty interests of criminal defendants in the hands of private individuals with no judicial experience, (3) the due process clause, Article I, section 9, by failing to extend any hearings whatsoever before persons are deprived of their liberty interests and failing to ensure that such decisions are made by those vested with the authority to administer the law and (4) numerous other sections of the Constitution, including Article III, sections 1 and 19, Article IV, section 1, and Article V, sections 2, 5, 8, 12, 13, and 17.

The amendment also violates the single subject prohibition against logrolling, requiring voters to choose whether they wish to accept part of the proposal which they oppose in order to obtain a change which they support, with regard to numerous issues including (1) the right to treatment for multiple offenders as opposed to single offenders, (2) the right to treatment as opposed to a right to treatment in a program administered by non-judges, (3) the right to treatment for violent criminals as opposed to a right to treatment for those who have never been convicted of a violent crime and (4) the right to state funded traditional substance abuse treatment as opposed to the state funded job training, literacy training, mental health treatment, and "similar support services" required by the amendment. The amendment also violates the logrolling component of the single subject rule by encouraging voters who may support the concept of drug treatment to vote for an amendment which essentially decriminalizes drug use for all drugs, including heroin, LSD, cocaine and all hallucinogenic and narcotic drugs.

ISSUE II

The amendment violates the clear and unambiguous language requirement of section 101.161(1) in a number of ways. First, it omits material facts necessary to make it not misleading, including (1) the fact that the amendment removes authority from the state judiciary, (2) the key stipulation in the amendment that allows a treatment right for those committing multiple offenses and (3) the fact that the amendment in effect abolishes Florida's statewide Treatment-Based Drug Court Program codified in section 397.334. Because the summary creates the impression that adopting the proposal would fill a void by failing to advise the voters of the statewide Drug Court Program it abolishes, the summary is fatally defective. Second, the summary fails to identify the constitutional provisions substantially affected by the amendment, including as noted above, Article I, sections 2, 9, and 21 and Article V, section 1. Third, the summary fails to define legally significant terms, contains "divergent terminology" and makes serious misstatements concerning the substance of the amendment. The summary does not define the terms "appropriate treatment," "unamenable to treatment," "serious crimes," and "in same episode." The summary also contains a complete falsehood concerning a material feature, namely, when a defendant is free of prosecution or sentencing. The summary states that a defendant is free of prosecution or sentencing once he has spent "eighteen months in treatment." The text of the amendment provides an entirely different period, namely "eighteen months after the date the individual elected to receive appropriate treatment." Finally,

the summary fails to advise the voters that upon completion of treatment, an offender cannot even be placed under continued court supervision for the offense which led to the appropriate treatment. Under this court's decisions, any one of the above failures will render a summary misleading and the proposed amendment must therefore by stricken from the ballot.

ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITIES ISSUE I.

THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT ENTITLED "RIGHT TO TREATMENT AND REHABILITATION" VIOLATES THE SINGLE SUBJECT LIMITATION OF ARTICLE XI, SECTION 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

A. The Single Subject Requirement and Supreme Court Precedent.

A Constitutional amendment proposed by initiative petition must "embrace but one subject and matter directly connected therewith." Article XI, section 3, Florida Constitution. To comply with the single subject requirement, an amendment must manifest a "logical and natural oneness of purpose." Fine v. Firestone, 448 So.2d 984, 990 (Fla. 1984). Although there are a number of methods for amending the Constitution, the citizens initiative is the only method constrained by the single subject requirement, because the initiative process does not provide the opportunity for public hearing and debate that accompanies other methods of proposing amendments. See Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re Fish and Wildlife Conservation Comm'n, 705 So.2d 1351, 1353 (Fla. 1998). Because the Constitution

is the basic document "that controls our governmental functions," this Court requires "strict compliance with the single subject rule in the initiative process for Constitutional change." <u>Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re Amendments to Bar Government from Treating People Differently Based on Race</u>, 778 So.2d 888, 891 (Fla. 2000).

Recognizing that a proposed amendment by ballot initiative must manifest "a logical and natural oneness of purpose," this Court has identified two primary purposes served by the single subject requirement. Fine v. Firestone, 448 So.2d 984, 990 (Fla. 1984); Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General -- Initiative for Statewide High Speed Monorail, 769 So.2d 367, 369 (Fla. 2000). First, the requirement prevents "logrolling," which combines separate issues into a single proposal to prompt voters to "accept part of an initiative proposal which they oppose in order to obtain a change in the constitution which they support." Fine, 448 So.2d at 988.

A second purpose for the single subject requirement is "to prevent a single constitutional amendment from substantially altering or performing the functions of multiple aspects of government." <u>Initiative for Statewide High Speed Monorail</u>, 769 So.2d at 369. This Court has identified two grounds on which proposed constitutional amendments will fail under this analysis. First, a proposal violates the single subject test when it "substantially alters or performs the functions of multiple branches" of government. <u>Fish and Wildlife Conservation Comm'n</u>, 705 So.2d at 1354. Second, in determining whether a proposal violates the single subject rule, the Court "must

Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General – Restricts Laws Related to Discrimination, 632 So.2d 1018, 1020 (Fla. 1994). As this Court has recently explained, to meet the single subject test, "initiative petitions must identify those constitutional provisions that are substantially affected by the proposed amendments." Amendments to Bar Government From Treating People Differently Based on Race, 778 So.2d at 893. As the Court explained in Fine, "how an initiative proposal affects other articles or sections of the constitution is an appropriate factor to be considered in determining whether there is more than one subject included in an initiative proposal." 448 So.2d at 990.

The "Right to Treatment and Rehabilitation" amendment in question violates the single subject provision under each of the above tests recognized by this Court.

B. The Proposed Amendment Substantially Alters and Performs Multiple Governmental Functions.

When an amendment "changes more than one government function, it is clearly multi-subject." Evans v. Firestone, 457 So.2d 1351, 1354 (Fla. 1984). As the Attorney General observed in his Petition, the proposed amendment at issue substantially alters and performs the functions of more than one government function.

- 1. The Proposed Amendment Substantially Alters and Performs Judicial Functions.
- a. <u>Amendment Strips Judiciary of Constitutionally Vested Powers</u>
 First, the initiative alters or performs a judicial function, and it does so in the

most substantial manner conceivable. It wrests from the judiciary its constitutionally vested power under Article V, section 1 and Article I, section 21 to impose appropriate sentences and administer justice, both of which are quintessential judicial functions. See, Andrews v. Florida Parole Commission, 768 So.2d 1257 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). The amendment does this by removing key authority from the judiciary and giving it over to "qualified professionals." Because the proposed amendment "[s]trips the judiciary of its power" to determine appropriate sentences for convicted offenders, the initiative "performs a quintessential judicial function." Amendments to Bar Government from Treating People Differently Based on Race, 778 So.2d at 894 - 95 (limitations on courts' powers to provide redress and administer justice "are significant in that they operate to redefine the remedial role of courts in equal protection cases"); Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General - Save Our Everglades, (Save Our Everglades I), 636 So.2d 1336, 1340 (Fla. 1994) (an initiative which found that the sugar cane industry polluted the everglades and imposed a flat fee on the industry to cover the clean-up "render[ed] a judgment of wrongdoing and de facto liability and thus perform[ed] a quintessential judicial function.")

b. <u>Amendment Alter State Judiciary's Function in Administering Statewide Drug Court Program.</u>

Not only does the amendment "strip the judiciary" of its inherent power over sentencing under the constitutional delegation of Article V, it strips the judiciary of its articulated authority under section 397.334, Florida Statutes (2001), to administer

the statewide Treatment-Based Drug Court Program. Currently, some 20,000 drug offenders in our state system receive treatment in lieu of sentencing as part of the nationally recognized and court-administered Treatment-Based Drug Court Program. The proposed amendment essentially abolishes the current program and establishes a de facto court system, substantially altering the function of the judicial branch of state government under Article V. See <u>Save Our Everglades I</u>, 636 So.2d at 1340 (where drafters in effect "drew up their own plan to restore the Everglades, then stepped outside their role as planners, donned judicial robes, and made factual findings and determinations of liability and damages," the initiative clearly performed a judicial function).

c. <u>Amendment Transfers Quintessential Authority to Private</u> "Qualified Professionals" with No Judicial Qualifications or Experience.

Not only does the initiative strip the judiciary of its constitutionally authorized power to sentence and its statutorily mandated authority to administer Florida's current Treatment-Based Drug Court Program, it transfers quintessential judicial decision-making authority to unelected, unappointed, and unaccountable "qualified professionals" who have no judicial qualifications or experience whatsoever. See, Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General re Tax Limitation, 644 So.2d 486 (Fla. 1994). In Tax Limitation, this Court struck down a proposed amendment limiting taxes which would have resulted in "a major change in the function of government" by "transferr[ing] all administrative remedies for police power actions that damage

private property interests from the executive branch to the judicial branch." 644 So.2d at 495. In an even more dramatic manner, the amendment in question transfers the historic constitutional and statutory powers of the judiciary to private individuals with no judicial training or experience. As the Attorney General correctly determined, such a wholesale transfer of power from the courts substantially alters the functions of the judicial branch. The judicial decision-making functions transferred by the amendment are by no means insignificant and include (1) the "determination of the type . . . of the appropriate treatment program or programs an individual shall receive," (2) the "determination of the . . . duration" of an individual's treatment program, (3) the "methods of monitoring the individual's progress while in treatment," (4) the authority to render an independent evaluation as to whether an individual is unamenable to treatment and rehabilitation as a pre-condition to the court rendering such a finding and (5) the authority to determine without judicial control or oversight when "an individual's appropriate treatment [in lieu of sentencing] has been successful" and will be terminated. This extraordinary transfer of authority is made more significant by the recognition that "[u]pon termination of appropriate treatment," as determined exclusively by the qualified professional, "the individual may not be prosecuted, sentenced, or placed under continued court supervision for the offense which led to the appropriate treatment." Section (e), Proposed Amendment. Incredibly, the voter is totally oblivious to this remarkable and wholesale transfer of judicial authority over a huge category of drug offenders because the ballot summary omits any reference or

suggestion that "qualified professionals" have anything to do with the amendment.¹

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